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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015

(In thousands)

 
March 31, 2016  December 31, 2015

ASSETS (unaudited)   

CURRENT ASSETS:    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 5,162  $ 4,177
Trade receivables — net of allowance for uncollectible accounts — 2016 — $1,451 and 2015 — $1,297 71,574  70,292
Employee receivables 263  217
Other receivables 5,501  6,799
Inventories 110,726  105,999
Prepaid expenses 6,181  5,634
Prepaid income taxes 3,049  2,955
Deferred income tax assets 7,049  7,025
Income tax refund receivables 504  905

Total current assets 210,009  204,003

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:    
Land and land improvements 19,464  19,307
Buildings 137,890  136,595
Manufacturing equipment 161,503  158,775
Furniture and fixtures 40,904  39,301
Leasehold improvements 28,350  27,561
Construction-in-progress 30,837  26,292

    
Total property and equipment 418,948  407,831

    
Less accumulated depreciation (146,057)  (140,053)

    
Property and equipment — net 272,891  267,778

    
OTHER ASSETS:    

Intangible assets:    
Developed technology — net of accumulated amortization — 2016 — $41,290 and 2015 — $38,497 79,168  69,861
Other — net of accumulated amortization — 2016 — $27,605 and 2015 — $26,603 40,641  39,493

Goodwill 187,047  184,472
Other assets 13,664  13,121

Total other assets 320,520  306,947

TOTAL $ 803,420  $ 778,728

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   (continued)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015

(In thousands)

 
March 31, 2016  December 31, 2015

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (unaudited)   
    

CURRENT LIABILITIES:    
Trade payables $ 39,104  $ 37,977
Accrued expenses 33,866  37,846
Current portion of long-term debt 10,000  10,000
Advances from employees 207  589
Income taxes payable 2,145  1,498

Total current liabilities 85,322  87,910

LONG-TERM DEBT 218,402  197,593
   
DEFERRED INCOME TAX LIABILITIES 11,099  10,985
   
LIABILITIES RELATED TO UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS 768  768
   
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PAYABLE 8,195  8,500
   
DEFERRED CREDITS 2,678  2,721
   
OTHER LONG-TERM OBLIGATIONS 4,632  4,148
    

Total liabilities 331,096  312,625
    

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Notes 5, 9, 10, and 13)  
    

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY:    
Preferred stock — 5,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015; no shares issued  
Common stock, no par value; shares authorized — 100,000; issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2016 - 44,303
and December 31, 2015 - 44,267 199,003  197,826
Retained earnings 278,115  273,764
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (4,794)  (5,487)

    

Total stockholders’ equity 472,324  466,103
    

TOTAL $ 803,420  $ 778,728

    
See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.   (concluded)
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands, except per share amounts - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2016  2015

NET SALES $ 138,077  $ 129,577
    

COST OF SALES 77,977  74,194
    

GROSS PROFIT 60,100  55,383
    

OPERATING EXPENSES:    
Selling, general and administrative 41,704  36,885
Research and development 10,588  9,672
Contingent consideration expense 102  122

    

Total operating expenses 52,394  46,679
    

INCOME FROM OPERATIONS 7,706  8,704
    

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSE):    
Interest income 9  53
Interest expense (1,329)  (1,574)
Other income (expense) — net (480)  280

    

Other expense — net (1,800)  (1,241)
    

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES 5,906  7,463
    

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1,555  2,289
    

NET INCOME $ 4,351  $ 5,174

    

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE:    
Basic $ 0.10  $ 0.12

    

Diluted $ 0.10  $ 0.12

    

AVERAGE COMMON SHARES:    
Basic 44,275  43,703

    

Diluted 44,579  44,145
 
See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 AND 2015

(In thousands - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2016  2015

Net income $ 4,351  $ 5,174
Other comprehensive income (loss):    
    Interest rate swap (729)  (898)

Less income tax benefit 284  349
    Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,228  (2,311)

Less income tax benefit (expense) (90)  106
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 693  (2,754)

Total comprehensive income $ 5,044  $ 2,420

    

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements.
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended

 March 31,

 2016  2015

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:    
Net income $ 4,351  $ 5,174

    
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Depreciation and amortization 9,705  9,068

Losses on sales and/or abandonment of property and equipment 29  37

Write-off of patents and intangible assets —  14

Amortization of deferred credits (43)  (43)

Amortization of long-term debt issuance costs 257  247

Deferred income taxes 170  462

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation 3  (860)

Stock-based compensation expense 624  520

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effects from acquisitions:    
Trade receivables (835)  (2,334)

Employee receivables (43)  (6)

Other receivables 1,367  (735)

Inventories (2,272)  3,518

Prepaid expenses (498)  (160)

Prepaid income taxes (38)  52

Income tax refund receivables 424  (539)

Other assets 109  (602)

Trade payables 2,400  84

Accrued expenses (3,936)  2,653

Advances from employees (388)  439

Income taxes payable 578  1,377

Deferred compensation payable (305)  473

Other long-term obligations (76)  433

    
Total adjustments 7,232  14,098

    
Net cash provided by operating activities 11,583  19,272

    
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    

Capital expenditures for:    
Property and equipment (10,991)  (9,492)

Intangible assets (482)  (495)

Proceeds from sale-leaseback transactions —  1,823

Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment —  3

Proceeds from sale of cost method investment 1,089  —

Cash paid in acquisitions, net of cash acquired (21,500)  (1,250)

    
Net cash used in investing activities (31,884)  (9,411)

See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements. (continued) 
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2016 AND 2015
(In thousands - unaudited)

 Three Months Ended

 March 31,

 2016  2015

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    
Proceeds from issuance of common stock $ 557  $ 4,021

Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 55,184  31,803

Payments on long-term debt (34,376)  (43,415)

Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation (3)  860

Contingent payments related to acquisitions (167)  (166)

Payment of taxes related to an exchange of common stock —  (380)

    
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 21,195  (7,277)

    
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH 91  (31)

    
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 985  2,553

    
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS:    

Beginning of period 4,177  7,355

    
End of period $ 5,162  $ 9,908

    
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION    
Cash paid during the period for:    

Interest (net of capitalized interest of $91 and $83, respectively) $ 1,378  $ 1,254

    
Income taxes $ 428  $ 931

    
Property and equipment purchases in accounts payable $ 1,584  $ 1,743

    

Contingent receivable received in exchange for sale of cost method investment $ 681  $ —

    

Merit common stock surrendered (0 and 89 shares, respectively) in exchange for exercise of stock options $ —  $ 1,725

    
See condensed notes to consolidated financial statements. (concluded) 
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MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONDENSED NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Unaudited)
 
1. Basis of Presentation. The interim consolidated financial statements of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. ("Merit," "we" or "us") for the three-month periods
ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 are not audited. Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the requirements for unaudited
interim periods and, consequently, do not include all disclosures required to be made in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. In the opinion of our management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments, consisting of
normal recurring accruals, necessary for a fair presentation of our financial position as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and our results of
operations and cash flows for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015. The results of operations for the three-month periods ended March 31,
2016 and 2015 are not necessarily indicative of the results for a full-year period. These interim consolidated financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the financial statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the "SEC").

2. Inventories. Inventories at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 consisted of the following (in thousands):

 March 31,  December 31,

 
2016  2015

Finished goods $ 54,075  $ 59,170
Work-in-process 12,323  8,540
Raw materials 44,328  38,289
    

Total $ 110,726  $ 105,999
 
3. Stock-Based Compensation. Stock-based compensation expense before income tax expense for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015,
consisted of the following (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2016  2015

Cost of goods sold $ 123  $ 93
Research and development 42  27
Selling, general, and administrative 459  400

Stock-based compensation expense before taxes $ 624  $ 520

As of March 31, 2016, the total remaining unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock options, net of expected forfeitures, was
approximately $8.1 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.65 years.

During the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, we granted awards representing 563,500 and 446,800 shares of our common stock,
respectively. We use the Black-Scholes methodology to value the stock-based compensation expense for options. In applying the Black-Scholes methodology
to the options granted during the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, the fair value of our stock-based awards granted was estimated using
the following assumptions for the periods indicated below:

 Three months ended March 31,

 
2016  2015

Risk-free interest rate 1.40%  1.53%
Expected option life 5.0  5.0
Expected dividend yield —%  —%
Expected price volatility 37.06%  35.11%

For purposes of the foregoing analysis, the average risk-free interest rate is determined using the U.S. Treasury rate in effect as of the date of grant, based on
the expected term of the stock option. The expected term of the stock options is determined using the historical exercise behavior of employees. The expected
price volatility is determined using a weighted average of daily historical volatility of our stock price over the corresponding expected option life and implied
volatility based on recent trends of the daily
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historical volatility. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the service period, which corresponds to the related vesting period.

4. Earnings Per Common Share (EPS). The computation of weighted average shares outstanding and the basic and diluted earnings per common share for
the following periods consisted of the following (in thousands, except per share amounts):

 
Net

Income  Shares  
Per Share
Amount

Period ended March 31, 2016:
 

 
 

 
 

Basic EPS $ 4,351  44,275  $0.10
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants

 

 304  
 

      
Diluted EPS $ 4,351  44,579  $0.10

      
Stock options excluded from the calculation of common stock equivalents as the impact
was anti-dilutive   978   
      
Period ended March 31, 2015:

 

 
 

 
 

Basic EPS $ 5,174  43,703  $0.12
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants

 

 442  
 

      
Diluted EPS $ 5,174  44,145  $0.12

      
Stock options excluded from the calculation of common stock equivalents as the impact
was anti-dilutive   383   
      

5. Acquisitions and Strategic Investments. On February 4, 2016, we purchased the HeRO®Graft device and other related assets from CryoLife, Inc., a
developer of medical devices based in Kennesaw, Georgia ("CryoLife"). The purchase price was $18.5 million, which was paid in full during the quarter
ended March 31, 2016. We accounted for this acquisition as a business combination. The purchase price was allocated as follows (in thousands):

Assets Acquired   
   Inventories  2,455
   Fixed Assets  290

Intangibles   
   Developed Technology  12,100
   Trademarks  700
   Customer Lists  400
   Goodwill  2,555

Total assets acquired  18,500

We are amortizing the developed HeroGraft technology asset over ten years, the trademarks over 5.5 years, and the customer lists over 12 years. The weighted
average life of the intangible HeROGraft assets acquired is approximately 9.82 years. Acquisition-related costs related to the HeROGraft during the quarter
ended March 31, 2016, which were included in selling, general, and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of income, were
not material. The results of operations related to this acquisition have been included in our cardiovascular segment since the acquisition date. During the three
month period ended March 31, 2016, our net sales of the products acquired from CryoLife were approximately $1.3 million. It is not practical to separately
report the earnings related to the products acquired from CryoLife, as we cannot split out sales costs related to those products, principally because our sales
representatives are selling multiple products (including the HeROGraft device) in the cardiovascular business segment. The pro forma consolidated results of
operations acquired from CryoLife are not presented, as we do not deem the pro forma effect of the transaction to be material.
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On January 20, 2016, we paid $2.0 million for 2.0 million preferred limited liability company units of Cagent Vascular, LLC, a medical device company. Our
purchase price, which represents an ownership interest of approximately 15% of the company, has been accounted for at cost.

On December 4, 2015, we entered into a license agreement with ArraVasc Limited, an Irish medial device company, for the right to manufacture and sell
certain percutaneous transluminal angioplasty balloon catheter products. As of December 31, 2015, we had paid $500,000 in connection with the license
agreement. During the three-month period ended March 31, 2016, we paid an additional $500,000 as certain milestones set forth in the license agreement
were met during that period. We are obligated to pay an additional $1.0 million if additional milestones set forth in the license agreement are reached. We
accounted for the transaction as an asset purchase and intend to amortize the license agreement intangible asset over a period of 12 years.

On July 14, 2015, we entered into an asset purchase agreement with Quellent, LLC, a California limited liability company ("Quellent"), for superabsorbent
pad technology. The purchase price for the asset was $1.0 million, payable in two installments. We accounted for this acquisition as a business combination.
The first payment of $500,000 was paid as of December 31, 2015, and the second payment of $500,000 was recorded as an accrued liability as of December
31, 2015. We also recorded $270,000 of contingent consideration related to royalties payable to Quellent pursuant to this agreement as of December 31, 2015.
The sales and results of operations related to this business combination have been included in our cardiovascular segment since the acquisition date and were
not material. The purchase price was allocated as follows: $1.21 million to a developed technology intangible asset and $60,000 to goodwill as of December
31, 2015. We intend to amortize the developed technology intangible asset over 13 years. The pro forma consolidated results of operations are not presented,
as we do not deem the pro forma effect of the transaction to be material.

The goodwill arising from the acquisitions discussed above consists largely of the synergies and economies of scale we hope to achieve from combining the
acquired assets and operations with our historical operations (see Note 12). The goodwill recognized from these acquisitions is expected to be deductible for
income tax purposes.

6. Segment Reporting. We report our operations in two operating segments: cardiovascular and endoscopy. Our cardiovascular segment consists of
cardiology and radiology medical device products which assist in diagnosing and treating coronary artery disease, peripheral vascular disease and other non-
vascular diseases and includes embolization devices and CRM/EP devices. Our endoscopy segment consists of gastroenterology and pulmonology medical
device products which assist in the palliative treatment of expanding esophageal, tracheobronchial and biliary strictures caused by malignant tumors. We
evaluate the performance of our operating segments based on operating income (loss).

Financial information relating to our reportable operating segments and reconciliations to the consolidated totals for the three-month periods ended March 31,
2016 and 2015 are as follows (in thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2016  2015

Revenues
 

 
 

Cardiovascular $ 132,544  $ 124,764
Endoscopy 5,533  4,813
Total revenues 138,077  129,577

    
Operating income

 

 
 

Cardiovascular 6,648  8,069
Endoscopy 1,058  635
Total operating income 7,706  8,704

7. Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In March 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standard Update
(“ASU”) No. 2016-09, Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. This ASU requires companies to record excess tax benefits and
deficiencies in income rather than the current requirement to record them through equity. It also allows companies the option to recognize forfeitures of share-
based awards when they occur rather than the current requirement to make an estimate upon the grant of the awards. This ASU is effective for public
companies for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within that reporting period. Early adoption will be permitted
in any interim or annual period, with any adjustments reflected as of the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. We are assessing the impact this new
standard is anticipated to have on our consolidated financial statements.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases. This ASU requires lessees to recognize (with the exception of short-term leases) a lease
liability, which is a lessee‘s obligation to make lease payments arising from a lease, measured on a discounted basis; and a right-of-use asset, which is an asset
that represents the lessee’s right to use, or control the use of, a specified asset for the lease term. Under the new guidance, lessor accounting is largely
unchanged and lessees will no longer be provided with a source of off-balance sheet financing. This ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. Lessees (for capital and operating leases) and lessors (for
sales-type, direct financing, and operating leases) must apply a modified retrospective transition approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the financial statements. The modified retrospective approach would not require any transition
accounting for leases that expired before the earliest comparative period presented. Lessees and lessors may not apply a full retrospective transition
approach. We are assessing the impact this new standard is anticipated to have on our consolidated financial statements.
 
In January 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall: Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities. This update amends the guidance regarding the classification and measurement of financial instruments. Changes to the current guidance primarily
affect the accounting for equity investments, financial liabilities under the fair value option, and the presentation and disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. In addition, it clarifies guidance related to the valuation allowance assessment when recognizing deferred tax assets resulting from unrealized
losses on available-for-sale debt securities. This ASU is effective for fiscal years and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is
not permitted except for the provision to record fair value changes for financial liabilities under the fair value option resulting from instrument-specific credit
risk in other comprehensive income. Upon adoption, an entity should apply the amendments by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet
at the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is effective. We are assessing the impact this new standard is anticipated to have on our
consolidated financial statements.

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes,
which will require deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities to be presented as noncurrent within a classified balance sheet. The ASU simplifies the
current guidance which requires an entity to separate deferred income tax liabilities and assets into current and noncurrent amounts in a classified balance
sheet. The current requirement that deferred tax assets and liabilities of a tax-paying component of an entity be offset and presented as a single amount is not
affected. The ASU is effective for financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those annual
periods. Earlier application is permitted for all entities as of the beginning of an interim or annual reporting period, and this ASU may be applied either
prospectively to all deferred tax liabilities and assets or retrospectively to all periods presented. We have elected not to early adopt this ASU, and we are
evaluating whether to apply the provisions prospectively or retrospectively upon adoption. We do not presently anticipate that the adoption of this standard
will have a material impact on our financial statements.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-11, Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory. This standard requires that inventory be measured at the lower of
cost or net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of
completion, disposal, and transportation. Inventory measured using last-in, first-out or the retail inventory method are excluded from the scope of this update
which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We do not anticipate that the
implementation of ASU 2015-11 will have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued authoritative guidance amending the FASB Accounting Standards Codification and creating a new Topic 606, Revenue from
Contracts with Customers. The new guidance clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard for U.S. GAAP
applicable to revenue transactions. This guidance provides that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The existing industry
guidance will be eliminated when the new guidance becomes effective and annual disclosures will be substantially revised. Additional disclosures will also be
required under the new standard. In July 2015, the FASB approved a proposal that extended the required implementation date one year to the first quarter of
2018 but also would permit companies to adopt the standard at the original effective date of 2017. Implementation may be either through retrospective
application to each period from the first quarter of 2016 or with a cumulative effect adjustment upon adoption in 2018. We are assessing the impact this new
standard is anticipated to have on our consolidated financial statements.

8. Income Taxes. Our overall effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 was 26.3% and 30.7%, respectively, which resulted in a
provision for income taxes of $1.6 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The decrease in the effective income tax rate for the first quarter of 2016, when
compared to the first quarter of 2015, was due primarily to the
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reinstatement of the federal research and development credit and a higher mix of earnings from our foreign operations, which are generally taxed at lower
rates than our U.S. operations.

9. Long-term Debt. We entered into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated December 19, 2012, with the lenders who are or may become party
thereto (collectively, the "Lenders") and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association ("Wells Fargo"), as administrative agent for the Lenders, which was
amended on February 3, 2016 by a Third Amendment to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Merit, certain subsidiaries of Merit, the
Lenders and Wells Fargo as administrative agent for the Lenders (as amended, the "Credit Agreement"). Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, the
Lenders have agreed to make revolving credit loans up to an aggregate amount of $225 million. The Lenders also made a term loan in the amount of $100
million, repayable in quarterly installments in the amounts provided in the Credit Agreement until the maturity date of December 19, 2017, at which time the
term and revolving credit loans, together with accrued interest thereon, will be due and payable. In addition, certain mandatory prepayments are required to be
made upon the occurrence of certain events described in the Credit Agreement. Wells Fargo has agreed, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, to make
swingline loans from time to time through the maturity date in amounts equal to the difference between the amounts actually loaned by the Lenders and the
aggregate revolving credit commitment. The Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially all of our assets. At any time prior to the maturity date, we
may repay any amounts owing under all revolving credit loans, term loans, and all swingline loans in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum thresholds,
without premium or penalty, other than breakage costs.

The term loan and any revolving credit loans made under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (i) the base rate (described below) plus
0.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), (ii) the London
Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) Market Index Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total
Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), or (iii) the LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25%
(subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, the term loan and
revolving credit loans under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (x) the base rate plus 1.00%, (y) the LIBOR Market Index Rate, plus
2.00%, or (z) the LIBOR Rate plus 2.00%. Swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR
Market Index Rate plus 2.00%. Interest on each loan featuring the base rate or the LIBOR Market Index Rate is due and payable on the last business day of
each calendar month; interest on each loan featuring the LIBOR Rate is due and payable on the last day of each interest period selected by us when selecting
the LIBOR Rate as the benchmark for interest calculation. For purposes of the Credit Agreement, the base rate means the highest of (i) the prime rate (as
announced by Wells Fargo), (ii) the federal funds rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus 1.00%.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants, representations and warranties and other terms customary for revolving credit loans of this nature. In
this regard, the Credit Agreement requires us to not, among other things, (a) permit the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) to be greater than 4.75 to 1 through the end of 2013, no more than 4.00 to 1 as of the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2014, no more than 3.75 to
1 as of the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2014, no more than 3.50 to 1 as of the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2014, no more than 3.25 to 1 as of the
fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2014, no more than 3.00 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter ending during 2015, no more than 3.25 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter
ending thereafter; (b) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, permit the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement and
subject to certain adjustments) to Consolidated Fixed Charges (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to be less than 1.75 to 1; (c) subject to certain
adjustments, permit Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for certain periods to be less than $0; or (d) subject to certain conditions
and adjustments, permit the aggregate amount of all Facility Capital Expenditures (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in any fiscal year beginning in 2013 to
exceed $30 million. Additionally, the Credit Agreement contains various negative covenants with which we must comply, including, but not limited to,
limitations respecting: the incurrence of indebtedness, the creation of liens or pledges on our assets, mergers or similar combinations or liquidations, asset
dispositions, the repurchase or redemption of equity interests or debt, the issuance of equity, the payment of dividends and certain distributions, the entry into
related party transactions and other provisions customary in similar types of agreements. As of March 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all covenants set
forth in the Credit Agreement.

    
We had originally entered into an unsecured credit agreement, dated September 30, 2010, with certain lenders who were or became party thereto and Wells
Fargo, as administrative agent for the lenders. Pursuant to the terms of that credit agreement, the lenders agreed to make revolving credit loans up to an
aggregate amount of $175 million. Wells Fargo also agreed to make swingline loans from time to time through the maturity date of September 10, 2015 in
amounts equal to the difference between the amount actually loaned by the lenders and the aggregate credit agreement. The unsecured credit agreement was
amended and restated as of December 19, 2012, as the Credit Agreement.
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In summary, principal balances under our long-term debt as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 March 31, 2016  December 31, 2015
Term loan $ 62,462  $ 64,962
Revolving credit loans 165,940  142,631
Total long-term debt 228,402  207,593
Less current portion 10,000  10,000

Long-term portion $ 218,402  $ 197,593

Future minimum principal payments on our long-term debt as of March 31, 2016, are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending  Future Minimum

December 31  Principal Payments

2016  7,500
2017  220,902

Total future minimum principal payments  $ 228,402

As of March 31, 2016, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $228.4 million under the Credit Agreement, with available borrowings of
approximately $49.6 million, based on the leverage ratio in the terms of the Credit Agreement. Our interest rate as of March 31, 2016 was a fixed rate of
2.48% on $133.7 million as a result of an interest rate swap (see Note 10), a variable floating rate of 1.94% on $90.1 million and a variable floating rate of
2.13% on approximately $4.6 million. Our interest rate as of December 31, 2015 was a fixed rate of 2.48% on $135.0 million as a result of an interest rate
swap, variable floating rate of 1.74% on $65.8 million and a variable floating rate of 2.12% on approximately $6.8 million.

10. Derivatives.

Interest Rate Swap. A portion of our debt bears interest at variable interest rates and, therefore, we are subject to variability in the cash paid for interest
expense. In order to mitigate a portion of this risk, we use a hedging strategy to reduce the variability of cash flows in the interest payments associated with a
portion of the variable-rate debt outstanding under the Credit Agreement that is solely due to changes in the benchmark interest rate.

On December 19, 2012, we entered into a pay-fixed, receive-variable interest rate swap having an initial notional amount of $150 million with Wells Fargo to
fix the one-month LIBOR rate at 0.98%. The variable portion of the interest rate swap is tied to the one-month LIBOR rate (the benchmark interest rate). On a
monthly basis, the interest rates under both the interest rate swap and the underlying debt reset, the swap is settled with the counterparty, and interest is paid.
The notional amount of the interest rate swap is reduced quarterly by 50% of the minimum principal payment due under the terms of our Credit Agreement.
The interest rate swap is scheduled to expire on December 19, 2017.

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, our interest rate swap qualified as a cash flow hedge. The fair value of our interest rate swap at March 31, 2016
was a liability of approximately $727,000, which was partially offset by approximately $283,000 in deferred taxes. The fair value of our interest rate swap at
December 31, 2015 was an asset of approximately $2,000, which was offset by approximately $1,000 in deferred taxes.

During the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015, the amount reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income to
earnings due to hedge effectiveness were included in interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of income and were not material.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts. We forecast our net exposure to various currencies and enter into foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate that
exposure. As of March 31, 2016, we had entered into the following foreign currency forward contracts (amounts in thousands and in local currencies):
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Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Euro EUR 662
British Pound GBP 626
Chinese Yuan Renminbi CNY 44,670
Mexican Peso MXN 30,000
Brazilian Real BRL 1,007
Australian Dollar AUD 2,100
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 6,725

We enter into similar transactions at various times during the year to partially offset exchange rate risks we bear throughout the year. These contracts are
marked to market at each month-end, and the fair value of our open positions at March 31, 2016 were not material. 

On October 23, 2015, we entered into a foreign currency forward contract to partially offset the currency risk related to an intercompany loan denominated in
CNY. The loan matures and the forward contract is deliverable on September 16, 2016. The notional amount of the forward contract is approximately 46.3
million CNY. This contract is marked to market at each month-end. The fair value of our open position as of March 31, 2016 was a liability of approximately
$46,000.

The effect on our consolidated statements of income for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 of all forward contracts was not
material.

11. Fair Value Measurements. Our financial assets and (liabilities) carried at fair value measured on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2016 and December
31, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

  
 

 Fair Value Measurements Using

 

 Total Fair  Quoted prices in  Significant other  Significant

 

 Value at  active markets  observable inputs  Unobservable inputs

Description  March 31, 2016  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)

         
Interest rate contracts (1)  $ (727)  $ —  $ (727)  $ —
Foreign currency contracts (2)  $ (46)  $ —  $ (46)  $ —
         
  

 

 Fair Value Measurements Using

 

 Total Fair  Quoted prices in  Significant other  Significant

 

 Value at  active markets  observable inputs  Unobservable inputs

Description  December 31, 2015  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)

         
Interest rate contracts (1)  $ 2  $ —  $ 2  $ —
Foreign currency contracts (2)  $ (278)  $ —  $ (278)  $ —

(1)    The fair value of the interest rate contracts is determined using Level 2 fair value inputs and is recorded as other long-term obligations or other long-
term assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
(2)    The fair value of the foreign currency contracts is determined using Level 2 fair value inputs and is recorded as accrued expenses in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Certain of our business combinations involve the potential for the payment of future contingent consideration, generally based on a percentage of future
product sales or upon attaining specified future revenue milestones. See Note 2 for further information regarding these acquisitions. The contingent
consideration liability is re-measured at the estimated fair value at each reporting period with the change in fair value recognized within operating expenses in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income. We measure the initial liability and re-measure the liability on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs as
defined under authoritative guidance for fair value measurements. Changes in the fair value of our contingent consideration liability during the three-month
periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):
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 Three Months Ended March 31,

 2016  2015

Beginning balance $ 1,024  $ 1,886
Fair value adjustments recorded to income during the period 71  122
Contingent payments made (167)  (166)

Ending balance $ 928  $ 1,842

The recurring Level 3 measurement of our contingent consideration liability includes the following significant unobservable inputs at March 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015 (amount in thousands):

Contingent consideration liability
(asset)  

Fair value at March
31, 2016  

Valuation
technique  Unobservable inputs  Range

Revenue-based payments  $ 928  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  5% - 15%
     Probability of milestone payment  100%
      Projected year of payments  2016-2028
         

Contingent Receivable  $ (681)  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  10%
     Probability of milestone payment  75%
      Projected year of payments  2016-2019

Contingent consideration liability  
Fair value at

December 31, 2015  
Valuation
technique  Unobservable inputs  Range

Revenue-based payments  $ 874  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  5% - 15%
     Probability of milestone payment  100%
      Projected year of payments  2016-2028
         

Other payments  $ 150  Discounted cash
flow

 Discount rate  —%
     Probability of milestone payment  100%
      Projected year of payments  2016
         

 
The contingent consideration liability is re-measured to fair value each reporting period using projected revenues, discount rates, probabilities of payment,
and projected payment dates. Projected contingent payment amounts are discounted back to the current period using a discounted cash flow model. Projected
revenues are based on our most recent internal operational budgets and long-range strategic plans. Increases (decreases) in discount rates and the time to
payment may result in lower (higher) fair value measurements. A decrease in the probability of any milestone payment may result in lower fair value
measurements. An increase (decrease) in either the discount rate or the time to payment, in isolation, may result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value
measurement.

Our determination of the fair value of the contingent consideration liability could change in future periods based upon our ongoing evaluation of these
significant unobservable inputs. We intend to record any such change in fair value to operating expenses as part of our cardiovascular segment in our
consolidated statements of income. As of March 31, 2016, approximately $826,000 was included in other long-term obligations and $102,000 was included in
accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2015, approximately $775,000 was included in other long-term obligations and
$249,000 was included in accrued expenses in our consolidated balance sheet. The cash paid to settle the contingent consideration liability recognized at fair
value as of the acquisition date (including measurement-period adjustments) has been reflected as a cash outflow from financing activities in the
accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

During the three-month period ended March 31, 2016, we sold a cost method investment for cash and for the right to receive additional payments based on
various contingent milestones. We determined the fair value of the contingent payments using the inputs indicated in the table above, and we recorded a
contingent receivable asset of approximately $681,000 as of March 31, 2016. We intend to record any change in fair value to operating expenses as part of our
cardiovascular segment in our consolidated
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statements of income. As of March 31, 2016, approximately $512,000 was included in other long-term assets and approximately $169,000 was included in
other receivables as a current asset in our consolidated balance sheet.

During the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, we had losses of approximately $0 and $14,000, respectively, related to the measurement of
non-financial assets at fair value on a nonrecurring basis subsequent to their initial recognition.

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, and trade payables approximates fair value because of the immediate, short-term maturity of
these financial instruments. The carrying amount of long-term debt approximates fair value, as determined by borrowing rates estimated to be available to us
for debt with similar terms and conditions. The fair value of assets and liabilities whose carrying value approximates fair value is determined using Level 2
inputs, with the exception of cash and cash equivalents, which are Level 1 inputs.
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12. Goodwill and Intangible Assets. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the three months ended March 31, 2016 were as follows (in
thousands):

 
2016

Goodwill balance at January 1 $ 184,472
Effect of foreign exchange 20
Additions as the result of acquisitions 2,555

Goodwill balance at March 31 $ 187,047

As of March 31, 2016, we had recorded $8.3 million of accumulated goodwill impairment charges. All of the goodwill balance as of March 31, 2016 and
December 31, 2015 related to our cardiovascular segment.

Other intangible assets at March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consisted of the following (in thousands):

 March 31, 2016

 
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount

Patents $ 12,496  $ (2,691)  $ 9,805
Distribution agreements 5,626  (3,000)  2,626
License agreements 19,639  (2,616)  17,023
Trademarks 7,974  (2,702)  5,272
Covenants not to compete 1,028  (886)  142
Customer lists 21,216  (15,443)  5,773
Royalty agreements 267  (267)  —
      

Total $ 68,246  $ (27,605)  $ 40,641

 December 31, 2015

 
Gross Carrying

Amount  
Accumulated
Amortization  

Net Carrying
Amount

Patents $ 12,014  $ (2,595)  $ 9,419
Distribution agreements 5,626  (2,853)  2,773
License agreements 19,109  (2,438)  16,671
Trademarks 7,259  (2,554)  4,705
Covenants not to compete 1,028  (873)  155
Customer lists 20,793  (15,023)  5,770
Royalty agreements 267  (267)  —
      

Total $ 66,096  $ (26,603)  $ 39,493

Aggregate amortization expense for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 was approximately $3.9 million and $3.6 million, respectively.

Estimated amortization expense for the developed technology and other intangible assets for the next five years consists of the following as of March 31,
2016 (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31  

Remaining 2016 $ 13,252
2017 16,983
2018 16,395
2019 16,058
2020 15,084
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13. Commitments and Contingencies. In the ordinary course of business, we are involved in various claims and litigation matters. These claims and
litigation matters may include actions involving product liability, intellectual property, contractual, and employment matters. We do not believe that any such
actions are likely to be, individually or in the aggregate, material to our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. However, in the event
of unexpected further developments, it is possible that the ultimate resolution of these matters, or other similar matters, if unfavorable, may be materially
adverse to our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. Legal costs for these matters such as outside counsel fees and expenses are
charged to expense in the period incurred.

ITEM 2.  MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

Disclosure Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Report includes “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements in this Report, other than statements of historical fact, are forward-
looking statements for purposes of these provisions, including any projections of earnings, revenues or other financial items, any statements of the plans and
objectives of our management for future operations, any statements concerning proposed new products or services, any statements regarding the integration,
development or commercialization of the business or assets acquired from other parties, any statements regarding future economic conditions or performance,
and any statements of assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. All forward-looking statements included in this Report are made as of the date hereof and
are based on information available to us as of such date. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statement. In some cases, forward-looking
statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “may,” “will,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “believes,” “estimates,” “potential,”
or “continue,” or the negative thereof or other comparable terminology. Forward-looking statements are neither historical facts nor assurances of future
performance. Instead, they are based only on our current beliefs, expectations and assumptions regarding the future of our business, future plans and
strategies, projections, anticipated events and trends, the economy and other future conditions. Our actual results will likely vary, and may vary materially,
from those projected or assumed in the forward-looking statements. Our financial condition and results of operations, as well as any forward-looking
statements, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties, including risks relating to product recalls and product liability claims; potential restrictions on our
liquidity or our ability to operate our business within the term of our current credit agreement, and the consequences of any default under that agreement;
possible infringement of our technology or the assertion that our technology infringes the rights of other parties; the potential imposition of fines, penalties, or
other adverse consequences if our employees or agents violate the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act or other laws or regulations; expenditures relating to
research, development, testing and regulatory approval or clearance of our products and the risk that such products may not be developed successfully or
approved for commercial use; greater governmental scrutiny and regulation of the medical device industry; reforms to the 510(k) process administered by the
U.S. Food and Drug Administration (the "FDA"); laws targeting fraud and abuse in the healthcare industry; potential for significant adverse changes in, or our
failure to comply with, governing regulations; increases in the price of commodity components; negative changes in economic and industry conditions in the
United States and other countries; termination or interruption of relationships with our suppliers, or failure of such suppliers to perform; our potential inability
to successfully manage growth through acquisitions, including the inability to commercialize technology acquired through recent, proposed or future
acquisitions; fluctuations in Euro, CNY and GBP exchange rates; our need to generate sufficient cash flow to fund our debt obligations, capital expenditures,
and ongoing operations; concentration of our revenues among a few products and procedures; development of new products and technology that could render
our existing products obsolete; market acceptance of new products; volatility in the market price of our common stock; modification or limitation of
governmental or private insurance reimbursement policies; changes in health care markets related to health care reform initiatives; failures to comply with
applicable environmental laws; changes in key personnel; work stoppage or transportation risks; uncertainties associated with potential healthcare policy
changes which may have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations; introduction of products in a timely fashion; price and product
competition; availability of labor and materials; cost increases; fluctuations in and obsolescence of inventory; and other factors referred to in our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 and other materials filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. All subsequent forward-
looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by these cautionary statements. Financial
estimates are subject to change and are not intended to be relied upon as predictions of future operating results, and we assume no obligation to update or
disclose revisions to those estimates. Additional factors that may have a direct bearing on our operating results are discussed in Part I, Item 1A “Risk Factors”
in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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OVERVIEW

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operation should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related condensed notes thereto, which are included in Part I of this Report.

We design, develop, manufacture and market medical products for interventional and diagnostic procedures. For financial reporting purposes, we report our
operations in two operating segments: cardiovascular and endoscopy. Our cardiovascular segment consists of cardiology and radiology devices, which assist
in diagnosing and treating coronary arterial disease, peripheral vascular disease and other non-vascular diseases, as well as our embolotherapeutic products.
Our endoscopy segment consists of gastroenterology and pulmonology devices which assist in the palliative treatment of expanding esophageal,
tracheobronchial and biliary strictures caused by malignant tumors.

For the three months ended March 31, 2016, we reported sales of approximately $138.1 million, up approximately $8.5 million or 6.6%, over sales from the
three months ended March 31, 2015 of approximately $129.6 million.

 
Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 43.5% for the three-month period ended March 31, 2016 as compared to 42.7% for the three-month period
ended March 31, 2015.

Net income for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 was approximately $4.4 million, or $0.10 per share, as compared to $5.2 million, or $0.12 per share, for the
quarter ended March 31, 2015.

During the first quarter of 2016, we purchased the HeROGraft device and other related assets from CryoLife, Inc., a developer of medical devices based in
Kennesaw, GA, for $18.5 million. Sales for the HeROGraft device were approximately $1.3 million during the three-month period ended March 31, 2016.

We continue to focus our efforts on expanding our presence in foreign markets, particularly Europe, Middle East and Africa, China, Southeast Asia, Japan,
Brazil, Australia and Canada, in an effort to expand our market opportunities. These efforts have increased our selling, general and administrative expenses in
the short term, but we believe over time they will help us improve our profitability.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table sets forth certain operational data as a percentage of sales for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, as indicated:

 Three Months Ended

 March 31,

 
2016  2015

Net sales 100%  100%
Gross profit 43.5  42.7
Selling, general and administrative expenses 30.2  28.5
Research and development expenses 7.7  7.5
Contingent consideration expense 0.1  0.1
Income from operations 5.6  6.7
Other (expense) - net (1.3)  (1.0)
Income before income taxes 4.3  5.8
Net income 3.2  4.0

Sales. Sales for the three months ended March 31, 2016 increased by 6.6%, or approximately $8.5 million, compared to the corresponding period of 2015.
Listed below are the sales by product category within each of our business segments for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (in
thousands):

   Three Months Ended March 31,

 
% Change  2016  2015

Cardiovascular     
 

Stand-alone devices 16.5%  $ 43,331  $ 37,179
Custom kits and procedure trays 4.3%  28,879  27,686
Inflation devices (5.2)%  17,712  18,690
Catheters 1.9%  23,899  23,457
Embolization devices 3.8%  10,783  10,392
CRM/EP 7.9%  7,940  7,360

Total 6.2%  132,544  124,764
     
Endoscopy      

Endoscopy devices 15.0%  5,533  4,813
      
Total 6.6%  $ 138,077  $ 129,577

Our cardiovascular sales increased approximately $7.8 million, or 6.2%, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, on sales of approximately $132.5 million,
compared to sales of $124.8 million for the corresponding period of 2015. This improvement was largely the result of increased sales of our custom kits and
procedure trays, as well as our stand-alone devices (particularly our diagnostic guide wire product line, tubing product line and hydrophilic guide wire
product line). The introduction of the HeROGraft product in the first quarter of 2016 also contributed to the increase in sales in the cardiovascular segment for
the periods presented. The decrease in sales of inflation devices for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 compared to the quarter ended March 31, 2015 was
primarily due to reduced sales to a large OEM customer and two large distributors.

Our endoscopy sales increased 15.0% for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, on sales of approximately $5.5 million, when compared to sales for the
corresponding period of 2015 of approximately $4.8 million. This increase was primarily related to an increase in sales of our AEROmini® fully covered
tracheobronchial stent and EndoMAXX™ fully covered esophageal stent, as well as related to the introduction of our Elation® Balloon Dilator.

Gross Profit. Gross profit as a percentage of sales increased to 43.5% for the first quarter of 2016, compared to 42.7% for the first quarter of 2015. The
increase in gross margin for the first quarter of 2016 compared to the first quarter of 2015 was primarily related to the increased focus on higher margin
products and suspension of the medical device tax in the United States.

19



Table of Contents

Operating Expenses. Selling, general, and administrative ("SG&A") expenses increased approximately $4.8 million, or 13.1%, for the three months ended
March 31, 2016, compared to the three months ended March 31, 2015. As a percentage of sales, selling, general, and administrative expenses increased to
30.2% of sales for the three months ended March 31, 2016, compared to 28.5% of sales for the three months ended March 31, 2015. The increase in SG&A
expense was primarily related to increased acquisition costs, severance expenses and foreign market expansion, which were partially offset by a $670,000
decrease in our foreign currency-denominated SG&A expense, due primarily to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro during the first quarter
of 2016 compared to the first quarter of 2015.

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were 7.7% of sales for the three months ended March 31, 2016, compared with
7.5% of sales for the three months ended March 31, 2015. This increase was largely due to hiring of additional research and development personnel to support
various new product developments.

Operating Income. The following table sets forth our operating income by business segment for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 (in
thousands):

 Three Months Ended March 31,

 
2016  2015

Operating Income   
 

Cardiovascular $ 6,648  $ 8,069
Endoscopy 1,058  635

Total operating income $ 7,706  $ 8,704

Cardiovascular Operating Income. During the three months ended March 31, 2016, we reported income from operations of approximately $6.6 million from
our cardiovascular business segment, compared to income from operations of approximately $8.1 million for the corresponding period of 2015. The decrease
in operating income in our cardiovascular segment was primarily the result of increased SG&A expenses relating to increased acquisition costs and severance
expenses, which were partially offset by a $670,000 decrease in our foreign currency-denominated SG&A expense, which in turn was due primarily to the
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro during the first quarter of 2016 compared to the first quarter of 2015.

Endoscopy Operating Income. During the three months ended March 31, 2016, we reported income from operations of approximately $1.1 million from our
endoscopy business segment, compared to income from operations of approximately $635,000 for the corresponding period of 2015. The increase in
operating income in our endoscopy segment was primarily the result of higher sales and gross profits, as well as, lower SG&A expenses as a percentage of
sales.

Other Expense - Net. Other expense, net, for the three months ended March 31, 2016 was approximately $1.8 million, compared to other expense, net, of
approximately $1.2 million for the corresponding period of 2015. The increase in other expense was principally the result of losses on changes in foreign
exchange rates.

Income Taxes. Our overall effective tax rate for the three months ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 was 26.3% and 30.7%, respectively, which resulted in a
provision for income taxes of $1.6 million and $2.3 million, respectively. The decrease in the effective income tax rate for the first quarter of 2016, when
compared to the first quarter of 2015, was due primarily to the reinstatement of the federal research and development credit and a higher mix of earnings from
our foreign operations, which are generally taxed at lower rates than our U.S. operations.

Net Income. During the three months ended March 31, 2016, we reported net income of $4.4 million, a decrease of approximately 15.9% from $5.2 million
for the corresponding period of 2015. The decrease in net income was primarily due to higher operating expenses and research and development expenses as a
percentage of sales and losses resulting from changes in foreign exchange rates, and was partially offset by higher gross margins and a lower effective income
tax rate.    
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Capital Commitments and Contractual Obligations

Our working capital as of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 was approximately $124.7 million and $116.1 million, respectively. The increase in
working capital as of March 31, 2016 compared to December 31, 2015 was primarily the result of increases in inventories, trade receivables, and cash, as well
as a decrease in accrued expenses, which were partially offset by an increase in trade payables and a decrease in other receivables. As of March 31, 2016, we
had a current ratio of 2.46 to 1.

At March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $5.2 million and $4.2 million respectively, of which $4.5
million and $3.7 million, respectively, were held by foreign subsidiaries. For each of our foreign subsidiaries, we make an evaluation as to whether the
earnings are intended to be repatriated to the United States or held by the foreign subsidiary for permanent reinvestment. The cash held by our foreign
subsidiaries for permanent reinvestment is used to fund the operating activities of our foreign subsidiaries and for further investment in foreign operations. A
deferred tax liability has been accrued for the earnings that are available to be repatriated to the United States.

In addition, cash held by our subsidiary in China is subject to local laws and regulations that require government approval for the transfer of such funds to
entities located outside of China. As of March 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $2.5 million and $1.7
million, respectively, held by our subsidiary in China.

During the three months ended March 31, 2016, our inventory balance increased approximately $4.7 million, from approximately $106.0 million at December
31, 2015 to approximately $110.7 million at March 31, 2016. The increase in the inventory balance was due to several factors, including our acquisition of the
HeROGraft device and increases in raw materials and work in process, and was partially offset by a decrease in our finished good inventory as a result of
increased sales. The trailing twelve months inventory turns as of March 31, 2016 decreased to 3.10, compared to 3.37 as of March 31, 2015.

Pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement, the Lenders have agreed to make revolving credit loans up to an aggregate amount of $225 million. The
Lenders also made a term loan in the amount of $100 million, repayable in quarterly installments in the amounts provided in the Credit Agreement until the
maturity date of December 19, 2017, at which time the term and revolving credit loans, together with accrued interest thereon, will be due and payable. In
addition, certain mandatory prepayments are required to be made upon the occurrence of certain events described in the Credit Agreement. Wells Fargo has
agreed, upon satisfaction of certain conditions, to make swingline loans from time to time through the maturity date in amounts equal to the difference
between the amounts actually loaned by the Lenders and the aggregate revolving credit commitment. The Credit Agreement is collateralized by substantially
all of our assets. At any time prior to the maturity date, we may repay any amounts owing under all revolving credit loans, term loans, and all swingline loans
in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum thresholds, without premium or penalty, other than breakage costs.

The term loan and any revolving credit loans made under the Credit Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (i) the base rate (described below) plus
0.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), (ii) the LIBOR
Market Index Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit
Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1), or (iii) the LIBOR Rate (as defined in the Credit Agreement) plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated
Total Leverage Ratio, as defined in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, the term loan and revolving credit loans under the Credit
Agreement bear interest, at our election, at either (x) the base rate plus 1.00%, (y) the LIBOR Market Index Rate, plus 2.00%, or (z) the LIBOR Rate plus
2.00%. Swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 1.25% (subject to adjustment if the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio, as defined
in the Credit Agreement, is at or greater than 2.25 to 1). Initially, swingline loans bear interest at the LIBOR Market Index Rate plus 2.00%. Interest on each
loan featuring the base rate or the LIBOR Market Index Rate is due and payable on the last business day of each calendar month; interest on each loan
featuring the LIBOR Rate is due and payable on the last day of each interest period selected by us when selecting the LIBOR Rate as the benchmark for
interest calculation. For purposes of the Credit Agreement, the base rate means the highest of (i) the prime rate (as announced by Wells Fargo), (ii) the federal
funds rate plus 0.50%, and (iii) LIBOR for an interest period of one month plus 1.00%.

The Credit Agreement contains customary covenants, representations and warranties and other terms customary for revolving credit loans of this nature. In
this regard, the Credit Agreement requires us to not, among other things, (a) permit the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit
Agreement) to be greater than 4.75 to 1 through the end of 2013, no more than 4.00 to 1 as of the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2014, no more than 3.75 to
1 as of the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2014, no more than 3.50 to 1 as of the fiscal quarter ending September 30, 2014, no more than 3.25 to 1 as of the
fiscal quarter ending December 31, 2014, no more than 3.00 to 1 as of any fiscal quarter ending during 2015, and no more than 3.25 to 1 as of any fiscal
quarter
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ending thereafter; (b) for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters, permit the ratio of Consolidated EBITDA (as defined in the Credit Agreement and
subject to certain adjustments) to Consolidated Fixed Charges (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to be less than 1.75 to 1; (c) subject to certain
adjustments, permit Consolidated Net Income (as defined in the Credit Agreement) for certain periods to be less than $0; or (d) subject to certain conditions
and adjustments, permit the aggregate amount of all Facility Capital Expenditures (as defined in the Credit Agreement) in any fiscal year beginning in 2013 to
exceed $30 million. Additionally, the Credit Agreement contains various negative covenants with which we must comply, including, but not limited to,
limitations respecting: the incurrence of indebtedness, the creation of liens or pledges on our assets, mergers or similar combinations or liquidations, asset
dispositions, the repurchase or redemption of equity interests and debt, the issuance of equity, the payment of dividends and certain distributions, the entrance
into related party transactions and other provisions customary in similar types of agreements. As of March 31, 2016, we were in compliance with all
covenants set forth in the Credit Agreement.

As of March 31, 2016, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately $228.4 million under the Credit Agreement, with available borrowings of
approximately $49.6 million, based on the leverage ratio in the terms of the Credit Agreement. Our interest rate as of March 31, 2016 was a fixed rate of
2.48% on $133.7 million as a result of an interest rate swap (see Note 10), a variable floating rate of 1.94% on $90.1 million and a variable floating rate of
2.13% on approximately $4.6 million. Our interest rate as of December 31, 2015 was a fixed rate of 2.48% on $135.0 million as a result of an interest rate
swap, variable floating rate of 1.74% on $65.8 million and a variable floating rate of 2.12% on approximately $6.8 million.

Cash used in investing activities was approximately $31.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, compared to approximately $9.4 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2015, an increase of approximately $22.5 million. This increase was primarily a result of more cash paid for acquisitions in
the quarter ended March 31, 2016 compared to the quarter ended March 31, 2105, principally the $18.5 million paid in the acquisition of the HeROGraft
device and other related assets from CryoLife, Inc. (see Note 5 of the condensed notes to our consolidated financial statements). Capital expenditures for
property and equipment were approximately $11.0 million and $9.5 million, respectively, for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and 2015, an
increase of $1.5 million.

Cash provided by financing activities for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 was approximately $21.2 million, compared to cash used in financing actives of
approximately $7.3 million for the quarter ended March 31, 2015, a change of approximately $28.5 million. This change was primarily the result of increased
debt financing related to acquisitions, principally our acquisition of the HeROGraft device and other related assets, as well as reduced proceeds from the
issuance of common stock, during the quarter ended March 31, 2016 compared to the quarter ended March 31, 2015.

We currently believe that our existing cash balances, anticipated future cash flows from operations, equipment financing and borrowings under the Credit
Agreement, as amended, will be adequate to fund our current and currently planned future operations for the next twelve months and the foreseeable future.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND ESTIMATES

The SEC has requested that all registrants address their most critical accounting policies. The SEC has indicated that a “critical accounting policy” is one
which is both important to the representation of the registrant’s financial condition and results and requires management’s most difficult, subjective or
complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. We base our estimates on past
experience and on various other assumptions our management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results will differ, and may differ
materially from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Additionally, changes in accounting estimates could occur in the future from period
to period. Our management has discussed the development and selection of our most critical financial estimates with the audit committee of our Board of
Directors. The following paragraphs identify our most critical accounting policies:

    
Inventory Obsolescence. Our management reviews on a quarterly basis inventory quantities on hand for unmarketable and/or slow-moving products that
may expire prior to being sold. This review includes quantities on hand for both raw materials and finished goods. Based on this review, we provide
adjustments for any slow-moving finished good products or raw materials that we believe will expire prior to being sold or used to produce a finished good
and any products that are unmarketable. This review of inventory quantities for unmarketable and/or slow moving products is based on forecasted product
demand prior to expiration lives.

    
Forecasted unit demand is derived from our historical experience of product sales and production raw material usage. If market conditions become less
favorable than those projected by our management, additional inventory write-downs may be required. During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and
2013, we recorded obsolescence expense of approximately $2.8 million,
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$2.3 million, and $2.7 million, respectively, and wrote off approximately $2.5 million, $2.4 million, and $2.8 million, respectively. Based on this historical
trend, we believe that our inventory balances as of March 31, 2016 have been accurately adjusted for any unmarketable and/or slow moving products that
may expire prior to being sold.

    
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts. A majority of our receivables are with hospitals which, over our history, have demonstrated favorable collection rates.
Therefore, we have experienced relatively minimal bad debts from hospital customers. In limited circumstances, we have written off bad debts as the result of
the termination of our business relationships with foreign distributors. The most significant write-offs over our history have come from U.S. custom
procedure tray manufacturers who bundle our products in surgical trays.

We maintain allowances for doubtful accounts relating to estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments. These
allowances are based upon historical experience and a review of individual customer balances. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate,
resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required.

    
Stock-Based Compensation. We measure stock-based compensation cost at the grant date based on the value of the award and recognize the cost as an
expense over the term of the vesting period. Judgment is required in estimating the fair value of share-based awards granted and their expected forfeiture rate.
If actual results differ significantly from these estimates, stock-based compensation expense and our results of operations could be materially impacted.

    
Income Taxes. Under our accounting policies, we initially recognize a tax position in our financial statements when it becomes more likely than not that the
position will be sustained upon examination by the tax authorities. Such tax positions are initially and subsequently measured as the largest amount of tax
positions that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the tax authorities assuming full knowledge of the position
and all relevant facts. Although we believe our provisions for unrecognized tax positions are reasonable, we can make no assurance that the final tax outcome
of these matters will not be different from that which we have reflected in our income tax provisions and accruals. The tax law is subject to varied
interpretations, and we have taken positions related to certain matters where the law is subject to interpretation. Such differences could have a material impact
on our income tax provisions and operating results in the period(s) in which we make such determination.

    
Goodwill and Intangible Assets Impairment and Contingent Consideration. We test our goodwill balances for impairment as of July 1 of each year, or
whenever impairment indicators arise. We utilize several reporting units in evaluating goodwill for impairment. We assess the estimated fair value of
reporting units using a combination of a market-based approach with a guideline public company method and a discounted cash flow method. If the carrying
amount of a reporting unit exceeds the fair value of the reporting unit, an impairment charge is recognized in an amount equal to the excess of the carrying
amount of the reporting unit goodwill over implied fair value of that goodwill. This analysis requires significant judgment, including estimation of future cash
flows and the length of time they will occur, which is based on internal forecasts, and a determination of a discount rate based on our weighted average cost of
capital. During our annual test of goodwill balances in 2015, which was completed during the third quarter of 2015, we determined that the fair value of each
reporting unit with goodwill exceeded the carrying amount by a significant amount.

    
We evaluate the recoverability of intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an asset's carrying amount may not be
recoverable. This analysis requires similar significant judgments as those discussed above regarding goodwill, except that undiscounted cash flows are
compared to the carrying amount of intangible assets to determine if impairment exists. All of our intangible assets are subject to amortization.

    
Contingent consideration is an obligation by the buyer to transfer additional assets or equity interests to the former owner upon reaching certain performance
targets. Certain of our business combinations involve the potential for the payment of future contingent consideration, generally based on a percentage of
future product sales or upon attaining specified future revenue milestones. In connection with a business combination, any contingent consideration is
recorded on the acquisition date based upon the consideration expected to be transferred in the future. We utilize a discounted cash flow method, which
includes a probability factor for milestone payments, in valuing the contingent consideration liability. We re-measure the estimated liability each quarter and
record changes in the estimated fair value through operating expense in our consolidated statements of income. Significant increases or decreases in our
estimates could result in changes to the estimated fair value of our contingent consideration liability, as the result of changes in the timing and amount of
revenue estimates, as well as changes in the discount rate or periods.
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ITEM 3.   QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Currency Risk. Our principal market risk relates to changes in the value of the Euro (EUR), Chinese Yuan Renminbi (CNY), and British Pound (GBP)
relative to the value of the U.S. Dollar (USD). We also have a limited market risk relating to the Hong Kong Dollar, Mexican Peso (MXN), Australian Dollar,
Brazilian Real (BRL), and the Swedish and Danish Kroner. Our consolidated financial statements are denominated in, and our principal currency is, the U.S.
Dollar. For the three-month period ended March 31, 2016, a portion of our revenues (approximately $31.7 million, representing approximately 23% of our
aggregate revenues), was attributable to sales that were denominated in foreign currencies. All other international sales were denominated in U.S. Dollars.
Our Euro-denominated revenue represents our largest single currency risk. However, our Euro-denominated expenses associated with our European
operations (manufacturing sites, a distribution facility and sales representatives) provide a natural hedge. Accordingly, changes in the Euro, and in particular a
strengthening of the U.S. Dollar against the Euro, will positively affect our net income. A strengthening U.S. dollar against the Euro of 10% would increase
net income by approximately $3.0 million dollars. Conversely, a weakening U.S. dollar against the Euro of 10% would decrease net income by approximately
$3.0 million dollars. A strengthening U.S. dollar against the CNY of 10% would decrease net income by approximately $4.0 million dollars. Conversely, a
weakening U.S. dollar against the CNY of 10% would increase net income by approximately $4.0 million dollars. During the three-month period ended
March 31, 2016, exchange rate fluctuations of foreign currencies against the U.S. Dollar resulted in a decrease in our gross revenues of approximately $1.9
million, or 1.4%, and a decrease of 0.1% in gross profit, primarily as a result of unfavorable impacts to revenue due to sales denominated in CNY, EUR, GBP,
and BRL, partially offset by favorable impacts due to increases in Irish and Mexican manufacturing costs denominated in EUR and MXN, respectively.

We forecast our net exposure to various currencies and enter into foreign currency forward contracts to mitigate that exposure. As of March 31, 2016, we had
entered into the following foreign currency forward contracts (amounts in thousands and in local currencies):

Currency Symbol Forward Notional Amount
Euro EUR 662
British Pound GBP 626
Chinese Yuan Renminbi CNY 44,670
Mexican Peso MXN 30,000
Brazilian Real BRL 1,007
Australian Dollar AUD 2,100
Hong Kong Dollar HKD 6,725

We enter into similar transactions at various times during the year to partially offset exchange rate risks we bear throughout the year. These contracts are
marked to market at each month-end. 

On October 23, 2015, we entered into a foreign currency forward contract to partially offset the currency risk related to an intercompany loan denominated in
CNY. The loan matures and the forward contract is deliverable on September 16, 2016. The notional amount of the forward contract is approximately 46.3
million CNY. This contract is marked to market at each month-end.

The effect on our consolidated statements of income for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015 of all forward contracts, and the
fair value of our open positions at March 31, 2016, were not material. 

Interest Rate Risk. As discussed in Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements, as of March 31, 2016, we had outstanding borrowings of approximately
$228.4 million under the Credit Agreement. Accordingly, our earnings and after-tax cash flow are affected by changes in interest rates. As part of our efforts
to mitigate interest rate risk, on December 19, 2012, we entered into a LIBOR-based interest rate swap agreement having an initial notional amount of $150.0
million with Wells Fargo to fix the one-month LIBOR rate at 0.98%. As of March 31, 2016, a notional amount of $133.7 million remained on the interest rate
swap agreement, which expires on December 19, 2017. This instrument is intended to reduce our exposure to interest rate fluctuations and was not entered
into for speculative purposes. Excluding the amount that is subject to a fixed rate under the interest rate swap and assuming the current level of borrowings
remained the same, it is estimated that our interest expense and income before income taxes would change by approximately $947,000 annually for each one
percentage point change in the average interest rate under these borrowings.

In the event of an adverse change in interest rates, our management would likely take actions to mitigate our exposure. However, due to the uncertainty of the
actions that would be taken and their possible effects, additional analysis is not possible at this
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time. Further, such analysis would not consider the effects of the change in the level of overall economic activity that could exist in such an environment.
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ITEM 4.  CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
 
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 
Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), as of March 31, 2016. In designing and
evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the
fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply its judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures
relative to their costs.
 
Based on that evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed at a
reasonable assurance level and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information we are required to disclose in reports that we file or submit
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and
forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, as
appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.
 
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

 
During the quarter ended March 31, 2016, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that materially affected, or are reasonably
likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934).
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION  
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 13 “Commitments and Contingencies” set forth in the notes to our condensed consolidated financial statements included in Part I, Item 1 of this
Quarterly Report.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to other information set forth in this Report, readers should carefully consider the factors discussed in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 (the "Form 10-K"), which could materially affect our business, financial condition or
future results. The risks described in our Form 10-K are not the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not currently known to us or that we
currently deem to be immaterial also may materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and/or operating results.

The risk factors identified in Part I, Item 1A of the Form 10-K are supplemented by the following additional risk factor:

We may be unable to manage rapid increases in the demand for our products, particularly if the increase may not be sustained.

Due to regulatory issues experienced by a competitor, we have recently experienced an increase in demand for certain of our products. We do not know
whether this increase will be short-term, medium-term or sustained, nor can we presently estimate the amount of the increase. As a result of this increase,
demand for those products may exceed our inventory and manufacturing capacity. In response to the development, we have increased capacity at some of our
existing facilities; however, this increase may not be sufficient to meet demand and could place stress on our human and other resources. It may also place
stress on our relationships with third-party suppliers. In the short term, we cannot outsource this manufacturing because our products need to be manufactured
to exact specifications, in a clean environment and by a manufacturer that satisfies certain regulatory requirements. This is forcing us to make allocation
decisions among existing and new customers. We may be unable to efficiently manage this increase in demand for certain products. Failure to efficiently
manage the situation could result in the loss of skilled employees or damage our existing supply relationships. A rapid increase in production may also lead to
failures in our internal controls, including those related to quality, operations or financial reporting. Any such failures on our part may result in long-term
declines in our profitability and results of operations.

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS

Exhibit No.  Description

10.1

 

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 3, 2016, by and among Merit Medical Systems,
Inc., certain subsidiaries of Merit Medical Systems, Inc., the lenders identified therein and Wells Fargo Bank, as administrative agent
for the lenders

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2  Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101

 

The following financial information from the quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. for the quarter ended
March 31, 2016, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Statements of Income, (ii)
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows,
and (v) Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC.
REGISTRANT

Date: May 9, 2016  /s/ FRED P. LAMPROPOULOS
 

  
FRED P. LAMPROPOULOS
PRESIDENT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

    
    

Date: May 9, 2016  /s/ BERNARD J. BIRKETT
 

  
BERNARD J. BIRKETT
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
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Exhibit 10.1
 

THIRD AMENDMENT TO
AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT

Dated as of February 3, 2016

This THIRD AMENDMENT TO AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDIT AGREEMENT (this “Amendment”) is by and among MERIT
MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC., a Utah corporation (the “Borrower”), certain subsidiaries of the Borrower party hereto (the “Subsidiary Guarantors”), the
lenders who are party to this Amendment (the “Consenting Lenders”), and WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, a national banking
association, as administrative agent for the Lenders (in such capacity, the “Administrative Agent”).

PRELIMINARY STATEMENTS

WHEREAS, the Borrower, the lenders party thereto (the “Lenders”), and the Administrative Agent entered into that certain Amended and Restated
Credit Agreement dated as of December 19, 2012 (as amended by that certain First Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of
October 4, 2013, as amended by that certain Second Amendment to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of September 18, 2014, as amended
hereby and as may be further amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agree to amend the Credit Agreement as specifically set
forth herein and, subject to the terms of this Amendment, the Administrative Agent and the Consenting Lenders have agreed to grant such request of the
Borrower.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto hereby
agree as follows:

Section 1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms not otherwise defined in this Amendment (including without limitation in the
introductory paragraph and the Preliminary Statements hereto) shall have the meanings as specified in the Credit Agreement.

Section 2. Amendments to Credit Agreement. Subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein, the
Administrative Agent and each of the Consenting Lenders hereby agrees as follows:

(a) Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by:

(i) inserting the following new definitions in appropriate alphabetical order:

(A)    ““HeRO Acquisition” means the acquisition by the Borrower of the “Acquired Assets”, as defined in the HeRO
Acquisition Agreement, including, without limitation, the business with respect to the medical device known as the HeRO Graft
and related products, as described in greater detail on Exhibit A to the HeRO Acquisition Agreement.”

(B)    ““HeRO Acquisition Agreement” means that certain Asset Purchase Agreement (including all schedules and
exhibits thereto), dated as of February 3, 2016, by and between the Borrower, as buyer, and CryoLife, Inc., a Florida corporation,
as seller, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified.”

(C)    ““Third Amendment Effective Date” means February 3, 2016.”

(ii) amending the definition of “Capital Expenditures” by deleting the parenthetical “(excluding any Permitted Acquisition
and the Datascope Acquisition)” and replacing such parenthetical with “(excluding any Permitted Acquisition, the Datascope Acquisition
and the HeRO Acquisition)”.

(iii) amending the definition of “Consolidated EBITDA” by deleting clause (b)(vii) of such definition in its entirety and
replacing it with the following:



“(vii) Transaction Costs during such period in connection with any Permitted Acquisition (other than the Thomas
Acquisition), the Datascope Acquisition and the HeRO Acquisition (provided that the aggregate amount of such
Transaction Costs added pursuant to this clause (vii) shall not exceed $25,000,000 during the term of this Agreement),”

(iv) amending the definition of “Excess Cash Flow” by deleting clause (b)(i) in its entirety and replacing it with the
following:

“(i) the aggregate amount of (A) cash actually paid by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries during such Fiscal Year on account of
Capital Expenditures, Permitted Acquisitions, the Datascope Acquisition and the HeRO Acquisition (other than any amounts that
were committed during a prior Fiscal Year to the extent such amounts reduced Excess Cash Flow in such prior Fiscal Year per
clause (b)(i)(B) below), (B) cash committed during such Fiscal Year to be used to make Capital Expenditures, Permitted
Acquisitions, the Datascope Acquisition or the HeRO Acquisition which, in each case, have been actually made or consummated
or for which a binding agreement exists as of the time of determination of Excess Cash Flow for such Fiscal Year and (C) of
Investments pursuant to Section 11.3(h) made during such Fiscal Year or committed during such Fiscal Year to be made and for
which a binding agreement exists as of the time of determination of Excess Cash Flow for Fiscal Year (in each case under this
clause (i) other than to the extent any such Capital Expenditure, Permitted Acquisition, the Datascope Acquisition or the HeRO
Acquisition or other Investment is made or is expected to be made with the proceeds of Indebtedness, any Equity Issuance,
casualty proceeds, condemnation proceeds or other proceeds that would not be included in Consolidated EBITDA),”

(v) amending the definition of “Pro Forma Basis” by deleting clause (a)(ii) of such definition in its entirety and replacing it
with the following:

“(ii) in the case of a Permitted Acquisition, the Datascope Acquisition and the HeRO Acquisition, shall be included,”.

(vi) amending the definition of “Revolving Credit Commitment” by deleting the last sentence of such definition in its
entirety and replacing it with the following:

“The aggregate Revolving Credit Commitment of all the Revolving Credit Lenders on the Third Amendment Effective
Date shall be $225,000,000.”

(vii) amending the definition of “Specified Transactions” by deleting such definition in its entirety and replacing it with
the following:

““Specified Transactions” means (a) any disposition of all or substantially all of the assets or Capital Stock of any
Subsidiary of the Borrower or any division, business unit, product line or line of business, (b) any Permitted Acquisition, (c) any
incurrence of Indebtedness, (d) the classification of any asset, business unit, division or line of business as a discontinued
operation, (e) the Transactions (other than the Thomas Acquisition), (f) the Datascope Acquisition and (g) the HeRO Acquisition.”

(viii) amending the definition of “Swingline Commitment” by deleting such definition in its entirety and replacing it with
the following:

““Swingline Commitment” means the lesser of (a) $225,000,000 and (b) the Revolving Credit Commitment.”

(ix) amending the definition of “Transaction Costs” by deleting such definition in its entirety and replacing it with the
following:

““Transaction Costs” means (a) all transaction fees, charges and other amounts related to the Transactions, any Permitted
Acquisition and, solely with respect to clause (b)(vii) of the definition of “Consolidated EBITDA”, the Datascope Acquisition and
the HeRO Acquisition (including, without limitation, any financing fees, merger and acquisition fees, legal fees and expenses, due
diligence fees or any other fees and expenses in connection therewith and any amounts payable pursuant to the Fee Letter) and (b)
severance costs in connection with any Permitted Acquisition (including the Thomas



Acquisition) and, solely with respect to clause (b)(vii) of the definition of “Consolidated EBITDA”, the Datascope Acquisition and
the HeRO Acquisition, in each case consummated on or after the Closing Date, in each case, to the extent such transaction fees
have been approved by the Administrative Agent.”

(b) Section 2.5(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such Section in its entirety and replacing it with
“Intentionally Deleted.”

(c) Section 7.24 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such Section in its entirety and replacing it with the
following:

“SECTION 7.24 Investment Bankers’ and Similar Fees. No Credit Party has any obligation to any Person in respect of
any finders’, brokers’, investment banking or other similar fee in connection with any of the Transactions, the Datascope
Acquisition or the HeRO Acquisition.”

(d) Section 9.12(b) of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such Section in its entirety and replacing it with the
following:

“(b)    Revolving Credit Loans, Swingline Loans or any Letter of Credit. The Borrower shall use the proceeds of the Revolving
Credit Loans, Swingline Loans or any Letter of Credit (i) to finance a portion of the consideration payable in connection with the
consummation of the transactions contemplated pursuant to the Thomas Purchase Agreement, (ii) to finance a portion of the consideration
payable in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated pursuant to the Datascope Acquisition Agreement, (iii) to
finance a portion of the consideration payable in connection with the consummation of the transactions contemplated pursuant to the HeRO
Acquisition Agreement, (iv) to refinance certain Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (after giving effect to the Thomas
Acquisition, the Datascope Acquisition and the HeRO Acquisition), including, without limitation, the Existing Credit Agreement and (v) for
working capital and general corporate purposes of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, including the payment of certain fees and expenses
incurred in connection with the Transactions, the Datascope Acquisition, the Pearland Sale‑Leaseback, the Endotek Sale, the HeRO
Acquisition and this Agreement.”

(e) Section 10.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting such Section in its entirety and replacing it with the
following:

“SECTION 10.1    Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio. As of any fiscal quarter end, permit the Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio
to be greater than 3.25 to 1.00.”

(f) Section 11.3 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by (i) deleting the “and” at the end of subsection “(h)”, (ii) re-
numbering the existing subsection “(i)” as subsection “(j)” and (iii) inserting the following new subsection (i) therein:

“(i)    the HeRO Acquisition; and”

Section 3. Conditions of Effectiveness. The effectiveness of this Amendment shall be subject to the satisfaction of each of the
following conditions precedent:

(a) Executed Amendment. The Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this Amendment executed by the
Borrower, each other Credit Party, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders;

(b) Officer’s Certificate. The Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent a certificate, in form and substance
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, from a Responsible Officer (solely in its capacity as a Responsible Officer) of the Borrower certifying that
(i) since December 31, 2015, there has not occurred a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) the conditions set forth in Section 3 of this Amendment have been
satisfied and (iii) the representations and warranties contained in Section 4 of this Amendment are true and correct;

(c) Certificates of Secretary and Organizational Documents. The Borrower shall have delivered to the Administrative Agent, with
respect to each Credit Party, a certificate of a Responsible Officer of each such Credit Party certifying that attached thereto is a true, correct and
complete copy of:

(A)  (1) articles or certificate of incorporation or formation of such Credit Party and all amendments thereto, certified as of a recent
date by the appropriate Governmental Authority in its jurisdiction of incorporation



or formation and (2) the bylaws or other governing document of such Credit Party as in effect on the Third Amendment Effective Date or,
in each case, that no changes have been made to the articles or certificate of incorporation or formation and/or bylaws or other governing
document, as applicable, since the same was delivered pursuant to Section 6.1(b)(ii) of the Credit Agreement;

(B)     resolutions duly adopted by the board of directors (or other governing body) of such Credit Party authorizing the
transactions contemplated hereunder and the execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment; and

(C)     certificates as of a recent date of the good standing of each such Credit Party under the laws of its jurisdiction of
incorporation or formation and, to the extent requested by the Administrative Agent, each other jurisdiction where such Credit Party is
qualified to do business;

(d) Opinions of Counsel. The Administrative Agent shall have received favorable opinions of counsel to the Credit Parties
addressed to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders with respect to the Credit Parties, this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby
and such other matters as the Lenders shall request;

(e) Collateral.

(i) Filings and Recordings. The Administrative Agent shall have received all filings and recordations that are necessary to
perfect the security interests of the Administrative Agent, on behalf of the Secured Parties, in all assets acquired pursuant to the HeRO
Acquisition, including, without limitation, all intellectual property acquired pursuant to the HeRO Acquisition, and the Administrative
Agent shall have received evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that upon such filings and recordations such
security interests constitute valid and perfected first priority Liens thereon (subject to Permitted Liens);

(ii) Lien Searches. The Administrative Agent shall have received the results of a Lien search (including a search as to
intellectual property matters), in form and substance reasonably satisfactory thereto, made against the assets acquired pursuant to the HeRO
Acquisition under the Uniform Commercial Code (or applicable judicial docket) as in effect in each jurisdiction in which filings or
recordations under the Uniform Commercial Code should be made to evidence or perfect security interests in all such assets, indicating
among other things that each such asset is free and clear of any Lien (except for Permitted Liens); and

(iii) Lien Releases. To the extent that the results of any Lien search described in clause (ii) above identify any Lien (except
for any Permitted Lien) on any assets acquired pursuant to the HeRO Acquisition, the Administrative Agent shall have received all filings
and recordations necessary to evidence that such Lien has been discharged and released

(f) HeRO Acquisition.

(i) The Administrative Agent shall have received a true, correct and fully executed copy of the HeRO Acquisition
Agreement, together with all of the exhibits, schedules and annexes thereto, all of which shall be in form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Administrative Agent;

(ii) The HeRO Acquisition shall be consummated in accordance with the HeRO Acquisition Agreement without giving
effect to any amendments, modifications or waivers thereof that are materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders (as reasonably
determined by the Administrative Agent), unless approved by the Administrative Agent; and

(iii) The aggregate purchase price for the HeRO Acquisition shall not exceed $18,500,000;
(g) Governmental and Third Party Approvals. The Credit Parties shall have received all governmental, shareholder and third party

consents and approvals necessary in connection with this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby and all such governmental,
shareholder and third party consents and approvals shall be in full force and effect;

(h) PATRIOT Act. To the extent requested by the Administrative Agent, the Borrower and each of the other Credit Parties shall
have provided to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders the documentation and other information requested by the Administrative Agent in order
to comply with requirements of the Act, applicable “know your customer” and anti-money laundering rules and regulations; and



(i) Payment of Fees. The Borrower shall have paid (i) $91,750 in Upfront Commitment Fees, (ii) all fees, charges and
disbursements of counsel to the Administrative Agent (directly to such counsel if requested by the Administrative Agent) to the extent accrued and
unpaid prior to or on the Third Amendment Effective Date, plus such additional amounts of such fees, charges and disbursements as shall constitute
its reasonable estimate of such fees, charges and disbursements incurred or to be incurred by it through the closing proceedings (provided that such
estimate shall not thereafter preclude a final settling of accounts between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent) and (iii) to any other Person
such amount as may be due thereto in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby, including all taxes, fees and other charges in connection
with the execution, delivery, recording, filing and registration of any of the Loan Documents.

Section 4. Representations and Warranties. The Borrower and each other Credit Party hereby represents and warrants to the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders that:

(a) both before and after giving effect to this Amendment, the HeRO Acquisition and any Indebtedness incurred in connection
herewith or therewith, each of the representations and warranties set forth in the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents is true, correct and
complete in all material respects as of the date hereof, except for any representation and warranty made as of an earlier date, which representation
and warranty shall remain true, correct and complete as of such earlier date; provided, that any representation or warranty that is qualified by
materiality or by reference to Material Adverse Effect shall be true, correct and complete in all respects as of the date hereof;

(b) except to the extent a Default or Event of Default may have occurred under Section 12.1(d) of the Credit Agreement as a result
of any breach of Section 10.1 of the Credit Agreement prior to giving effect to this Amendment, no Default or Event of Default has occurred or is
continuing both before and after giving effect to this Amendment, the HeRO Acquisition and any Indebtedness incurred in connection herewith or
therewith;

(c) it has the right, power and authority and has taken all necessary corporate and other action to authorize the execution, delivery
and performance of this Amendment and each of the other documents executed in connection herewith to which it is a party in accordance with their
respective terms and the transactions contemplated hereby; and

(d) this Amendment and each other document executed in connection herewith has been duly executed and delivered by the duly
authorized officers of the Borrower and each other Credit Party, and each such document constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of the
Borrower and each other Credit Party, enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by Debtor Relief Laws
from time to time in effect which affect the enforcement of creditors’ rights in general and the availability of equitable remedies.

Section 5. Limited Effect. Except as expressly provided herein, the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall remain
unmodified and in full force and effect. Except as expressly provided herein, this Amendment shall not be deemed (a) to be a waiver of, or consent to, or a
modification or amendment of, any other term or condition of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, (b) to prejudice any right or rights which
the Administrative Agent or the Lenders may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with the Credit Agreement or the other Loan
Documents or any of the instruments or agreements referred to therein, as the same may be amended, restated, supplemented or modified from time to time,
(c) to be a commitment or any other undertaking or expression of any willingness to engage in any further discussion with the Borrower, any of its
Subsidiaries or any other Person with respect to any waiver, amendment, modification or any other change to the Credit Agreement or the Loan Documents or
any rights or remedies arising in favor of the Lenders or the Administrative Agent, or any of them, under or with respect to any such documents or (d) to be a
waiver of, or consent to or a modification or amendment of, any other term or condition of any other agreement by and among the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the Administrative Agent or any other Lender, on the other hand. References in the Credit Agreement to “this Agreement”
(and indirect references such as “hereunder”, “hereby”, “herein”, “hereof” or other words of like import) and in any Loan Document to the “Credit
Agreement” shall be deemed to be references to the Credit Agreement as modified hereby.

Section 6. Acknowledgement and Reaffirmation. The Borrower and each other Credit Party (a) agrees that the transactions
contemplated by this Amendment shall not limit or diminish the obligations of such Person under, or release such Person from any obligations under, the
Credit Agreement, the Guaranty Agreement, the Collateral Agreement and each other Security Document to which it is a party, (b) confirms and reaffirms its
obligations under the Credit Agreement, the Guaranty Agreement, the Collateral Agreement and each other Security Document to which it is a party and (c)
agrees that the Credit Agreement, the Guaranty Agreement, the Collateral Agreement and each other Security Document to which it is a party remain in full
force and effect and are hereby reaffirmed.



Section 7. Costs, Expenses and Taxes. The Borrower agrees to pay on demand all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses of
the Administrative Agent in connection with the preparation, execution, delivery, administration, modification and amendment of this Amendment and the
other instruments and documents to be delivered hereunder, including, without limitation, the reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses of counsel for the
Administrative Agent with respect thereto and with respect to advising the Administrative Agent as to its rights and responsibilities hereunder and thereunder.

Section 8. Execution in Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto in different
counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. Delivery of an executed
counterpart of a signature page of this Amendment by facsimile or in electronic (i.e., “pdf” or “tif”) format shall be effective as delivery of a manually
executed counterpart of this Amendment.

Section 9. Governing Law. This Amendment and any claim, controversy, dispute or cause of action (whether in contract or tort or
otherwise) based upon, arising out of or relating to this Amendment and the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby shall be governed by, and
construed in accordance with, the law of the State of New York.

Section 10. Entire Agreement. This Amendment and the other Loan Documents, and any separate letter agreements with respect to
fees payable to the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Lender, the Swingline Lender and/or the Arranger, constitute the entire agreement among the parties
relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof.

Section 11. Nature of Agreement. For purposes of determining withholding Taxes imposed under FATCA from and after the
effective date of this Amendment, the Borrower and the Administrative Agent shall treat (and the Lenders hereby authorize the Administrative Agent to treat)
the Credit Agreement (as amended by this Amendment) as not qualifying as a “grandfathered obligation” within the meaning of Treasury Regulation Section
1.1471-2(b)(2)(i).

[Signature Pages Follow]

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed by their respective officers thereunto duly authorized, as

of the date first above written.

MERIT MEDICAL SYSTEMS, INC., as Borrower

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

MERIT HOLDINGS, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

MERIT SENSOR SYSTEMS, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

MERIT SERVICES, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos



Title:     President

BIOSPHERE MEDICAL, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

BSMD VENTURES, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

BIOSPHERE MEDICAL JAPAN, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

THOMAS MEDICAL PRODUCTS, INC., as Subsidiary Guarantor

By:      /s/ Fred Lampropoulos                        
Name:     Fred Lampropoulos
Title:     President

ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND LENDERS:

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION,
as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender, Issuing Lender and Lender

By: /s/ Jared Myers        
Name: Jared Myres
Title: Vice President

 



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Fred P. Lampropoulos, certify that:
 

1.      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Report”) of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Registrant”);
 
2.      Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report;
 
3.      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;
 
4.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the Registrant and have:

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with general accepted accounting principles;

 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this Report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date:May 9, 2016
 

  
/s/ Fred P. Lampropoulos

 

Fred P. Lampropoulos
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

(principal executive officer)
 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATION
 

I, Bernard J. Birkett, certify that:
 

1.      I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (the “Report”) of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Registrant”);
 
2.      Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this Report;
 
3.      Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this Report;
 
4.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal controls over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for
the Registrant and have:

 
a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the Registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this Report is being prepared;

 
b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our

supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with general accepted accounting principles;

 
c) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this Report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on such evaluation; and
 
d) disclosed in this Report any change in the Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.      The Registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the

Registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the Registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the Registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 
b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date:May 9, 2016
 

  
/s/ Bernard J. Birkett

 

Bernard J. Birkett
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(principal financial officer)
 



EXHIBIT 32.1
 

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Fred P. Lampropoulos, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

 
(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 

Date:May 9, 2016 /s/ Fred P. Lampropoulos
 

Fred P. Lampropoulos
 

President and Chief Executive Officer
 

(principal executive officer)
 
This certification accompanies the foregoing Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



EXHIBIT 32.2
 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Merit Medical Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2016, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “Report”), I, Bernard J. Birkett, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:
 

(1)   The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
 
(2)   The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the

Company.
 

Date:May 9, 2016 /s/ Bernard J. Birkett
 

Bernard J. Birkett
 

Chief Financial Officer
 

(principal financial officer)
 
This certification accompanies the foregoing Report pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 and shall not, except to the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by the Registrant for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.  A signed original of this certification has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


